





WILLIAM BUTTERFIELD MOSAICS AT ALL SAINTS, HARROW WEALD, LONDON

Fig. 1: All Saints, Harrow Weald, the interior looking east. The church was built in 1849 by William Butterfield,
and enlarged by him some forty years later, with a scheme of decoration to his design completed in 1890. The
mosaic decoration above the chancel arch has never been covered; that on the east wall was painted over in the
1950s and uncovered recently.
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was painted white, and the reredos hidden behind a curtain. This
was part of a reordering which included the construction of a
west gallery to house the organ, the removal of the choir stalls
from the chancel to this new organ loft, and new vestries to the
north-east. (This reordering was to be the first step in a much
more ambitious plan by the then vicar, which was to involve
demolition of the early Victorian chancel and construction of a
huge new east extension, for which the plans survive.) Neither the
Listing team, nor the biographer, realised that the visible
decorative scheme was incomplete; part of DButterfield’s
conception survived, but was hidden.

In 1994 the curtain behind the high altar was removed, as an
experiment to see how this would be received by the
congregation, and the reredos cleaned. Its presence had not been
forgotten, but it was generally understood to be in poor
condition. It turned out to be largely a matter of removing spiders
and cleaning. The reredos itself has mosaic panels within pointed
stone arches, in the colour scheme used by Butterfield
throughout: cream, pale blue, terracotta pink, and gold. The
curtain was not reinstated.

By 2010 the paint on the east wall above the reredos was
flaking and dirty. The outlines of the tiny mosaic tiles beneath
showed through the painted surface, increasing the effect of
shabbiness. A single photograph survives of this wall before it was
painted over. Judging by the visible floral decorations, the date was
probably Easter 1957. Although the photo is in black and white it
clearly shows the design of the east wall mosaics. Horizontal bands
of scrolling foliage alternate with geometric panels, until the top
of the 1849 east window is reached and the scrolls burst out into
a firework display filling the apex above the window.

This design, although unlike that of the carpet pattern on the
east wall of the nave, with the mandorla above, uses the scrolling
foliage motif found on either side of the mandorla (see below).
This motif is used in mosaic work on the reredos on panels within
pointed arches of stone, and, with variations, is also used in the
painted ceiling panels.

Butterfield’s mosaics at Harrow Weald and elsewhere
Butterfield’s mosaics are uncommon. He was noted for his
decorative painted schemes in his churches, during a period when
many architects found it hard to accept that the medieval churches
they sought to emulate had riotously colourful interiors. In some
of his churches he used normal-sized tiles painted and fired with
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Fig. 2: The east end at All Saints. In 1957 the reredos was hidden behind a curtain and the east wall painted white. The
curtain was removed and the reredos cleaned in 1994, and in mid 2013 the paint was removed from the mosaics, which
were _found to be in remarkably good condition. The ceiling was also decorated by Buttetfield; a small section of this has
been exposed and can be glimpsed above the north lancet (see Figure 6).
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Fig. 3 (above): The mosaic decoration
above the east windouw.

Fig. 4 (right): The centre rosette in the
decoration above the east window.
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large figurative schemes, and he was the first Victorian architect to
experiment with small coloured tiles to produce genuine mosaics
in the manner used by the ancients. His original experiments,
using Italian techniques and craftsmen, were figural. The very first
was a representation of The Adoration, installed by Salviati in the
chapel at Fulham Palace in 1867. Of this only one small panel
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survives, and there are no other London examples, but Salviati also
did figural mosaics for Butterfield at All Saints, Babbacombe,
Devon, ¢.1873.

Gradually Butterfield began to use decorative patterns in
mosaic. These essentially copied his painted schemes; whether he
felt that mosaic work was more permanent, being less susceptible
to destruction by being painted out, is unknown. His 1878
mosaics at Ottery St Mary include what appears to be a carpet
pattern of crosses within squares and circles very like that used on
the chancel arch at Harrow Weald. But by the mid 1880s, when
Butterfield was starting on the plans to enlarge and refit Harrow
Weald, he was also restoring the medieval chapel of St Mary in
Castro inside Dover Castle. This scheme survives, and here are the
same decorative motifs of scrolling foliage and geometric panels.
These apparently derived from ‘neo-Norman’ motifs (since
removed) used by Butterfield in his restoration of the Norman
church at the Hospital of St Cross, Winchester, and based on a
surviving fragment at St Cross of genuine Norman painted
decoration. He also used the scrolling foliage motif for the
wrought iron altar rails at St Cross, and rather splendidly in brass
for the altar rails at Dover. Sadly, his altar rails at Harrow Weald are
a plainer design in timber.

At Harrow Weald Butterfield faced the chancel east wall and
reredos with mosaic work in decorative patterns using the
scrolling foliage alternating with geometric panels. The motifs are
the same as at Dover Castle but the upstanding scrolls above the
east window are a flourish new to Harrow Weald; there is no
room for anything similar at Dover. The reredos, with its matching
mosaics, is also very similar to the reredos designed for Dover
Castle. On the nave east wall, carpet patterns of crosses within
squares and circles, on alternately light and dark backgrounds, are
used on either side of the chancel arch, beneath a motif running
across the arch which appears to represent the battlements of the
City of God.This is also reminiscent of the top of a medieval rood
screen, as rising from it is a huge cross against a mandorla.
Surrounded by a large-scale version of the scrolling foliage motif,
it fills the space above the chancel arch. The cross and mandorla
design had been used by Butterfield in 1859, in paint above the
1849 chancel arch at the church usually considered his
masterpiece, All Saints Margaret Street, London. This has the
Greek letters alpha and omega on either side of the mandorla,
against an abstract pattern; at Harrow Weald the letters are the
Greek characters IHC and XPC, against the carpet pattern to left
and right of the arch.
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Fig. 5: The central lancet, showing the mosaic decoration in the window reveals. The glass is by Michael O'Connor, 1849.
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In 1890 Butterfield also designed for St Mark, Dundela, a
reredos similar in design to that of Harrow Weald and Dover
Castle, and mosaic work on the east wall above; these use the same
geometric panel motif but not the scrolling foliage. This was his
last wall mosaic.

The recent restoration work at All Saints

In 2010 small sections of the chancel east wall immediately above
the reredos were experimentally cleaned by William Northover, of
Northstar Restoration. The mosaics were indeed, as had been
assumed, in the same colour scheme as the rest of the church.
Crucially, it was established that the paint could be successtully
removed, and that the tiled surface appeared to be undamaged.
Following this, the vicar asked the Friends of All Saints to take
charge of fund-raising for the complete removal of the paint. This
was done by inviting the congregation and public to sponsor
individual portions at £20 each, and by receipt of grants from the
Heritage of London Trust, Harrow Heritage Trust, and the Alan
Evans Memorial Trust. The work cost £14,500 and was carried
out by Northstar Restoration in June—July 2013.

The result exceeded expectations. Not only was the mosaic
work 1in its delicate colours revealed; it was found to be in good
condition and impressively skilled in execution. A repair or two
was needed where the mosaics had been disturbed by
maintenance work. These patches were plastered and outlined
to look like the missing tiles, each of which was then painted
in, using matching colours. From below, it is impossible to
distinguish these repairs from the real thing. The final treatment
was a good scrub with hot soapy water, before the scaffolding
came down (Figs 2-5).

More to do . . .

Butterfield had the nave ceiling painted throughout with
variations on the scrolling foliage motif. The chancel ceiling
panels, however, have been in plain colours for many decades. So
while the scaffolding was up, the restorers investigated the ceiling
panel nearest the NE corner, and beneath the plain blue surface
was indeed a painted pattern, with a motif of large and small stars;
unexpectedly, these are green (Fig. 6). Only a small portion of the
scheme has been revealed, but it is now evident that the chancel
ceiling, like the nave, has painted decoration which survives. It is
very likely that the three transverse ceiling bays of the 1890 north
aisle also bear painted decoration. So it appears that much of
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Fig. 6: Butterfield painted the chancel
ceiling with stars. These have been
painted over, but a small section above
the north lancet window was recently
exposed for test purposes, and is shown
here.

Butterfield’s 1890 scheme still survives, throughout the church.
The cost of removing the covering paint from the chancel ceiling
alone would be prohibitive, and it will not happen in the
foreseeable future. But now that it has been established that so
much has survived, it is time All Saints became better known.
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The restoration of the tomb of William Butterfield

with list of donors

The Project

THE TWO-HUNDREDTH ANNIVERSARY of the birth of
the great Victorian architect, William Butterfield (1814—1900), on
7 September 2014, was marked by various events, including, as
members will be aware, the project for the restoration of
Butterfields listed tomb in Tottenham Cemetery, carried out
under the auspices of the Ecclesiological Society, and funded by
generous donations from members and others.

On the warm and sunny afternoon of Sunday 7 September,
members of the Society together with descendants of Butterfield’s
immediate family and members of the worshipping community
from the nearby All Hallows’ Church — the remarkable but much
altered medieval church which Butterfield extended
controversially between 1875 and 1877 — gathered by his tomb for
a wreath-laying by Douglas Butterfield (Fig. 1), and the blessing of
the restored tomb by Fr Roy Pearson, the Vicar. The ceremony
followed presentations in the church by Geoft Brandwood and

Paul Velluet

Paul Velluet is a chartered architect.
Since qualification in 1975, he has
worked extensively in the conservation
field in both private practice and the
public sector, including English
Heritage. He is a member of the
Society’s Council.

Fig. 1: The blessing and laying of the
wreath on the tomb of William
Buttetfield, on 7 September 2014, the
200th anniversary of his birth,. The
wreath was laid by Douglas Butterfield,
the great-great-nephew of the architect.
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the author from the Society’s Council - both of whom had been
closely involved in progressing the project — and by a short service
led by Fr Pearson with the Archdeacon of Hampstead, Fr Luke
Miller. The afternoon concluded most enjoyably with an excellent
tea in the church, generously provided by the community at All
Hallows’.

The project for the conservative cleaning of the listed tomb
and reinstating the legibility of the inscription along its south side
was carried out by Hirst Conservation of Sleaford in collaboration
with Gary Churchman, Stone Carver and Lettercutter, under the
author’s direction, with funds raised on behalf of the Society by
Geoft Brandwood, drawing upon generous donations from
members of the Society and other individuals and bodies, as
detailed in a separate note at the end of this article.

The background to the project and its technical aspects
The poor condition of Butterfields tomb, located in the
consecrated part of the cemetery at Tottenham, was first raised by
Colin Kerr, the Inspecting Architect for both All Saints, Margaret
Street, and All Hallows’, Tottenham, in his contribution to the
Society’s 14th Dykes Bower Lecture held in All Saints in
December, 2011.

The prospect of the 200th anniversary of Butterfield’s birth in
September, 2014, focused the attention of members of the
Society’s Council on the need for action to secure the restoration
of the tomb during 2013, leading to a first visit to the site and an
inspection of the tomb by Trevor Cooper, Geoft Brandwood and
the author early in June. This revealed the barely legible state of
the inscription along its south side, and led to the initiation of
discussions by the Council about how best to proceed, particularly
in terms of funding the work for recovering the legibility of the
inscription; work which the Society’s Council considered to be
essential if the tomb was to fulfil its primary purpose.

Geoft Brandwood undertook to explore potential sources of
funding, to investigate potential support from the Butterfield
family, from institutions with which Butterfield was associated and
from other bodies and individuals, and to check the extent to
which approvals might be required from Butterfield’s family and
the cemetery authority. A member of the Society, Peter Taylor,
kindly volunteered to do the genealogical work necessary to
locate surviving members of the family. The author undertook
to explore how best to secure work for the reinstatement of the
legibility of the inscription and to supervise the necessary work.
In this connection, the Society’s Council noted that English
Heritage described the inscription as ‘barely legible’ in the very
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brief and succinct description accompanying the listing-entry for
the tomb of February, 1995:

Tomb. C.1900 to William Butterfield, designed by the architect
himself. Stone coffin-shaped tomb with sculpted cross on top; the
inscription barely legible in 1994. Buttetfield was one of the most
important Victorian church architects, and he substantially rebuilt All
Hallow’s [sic| parish church adjoining the cemetery.

In undertaking a measured survey of the tomb (Figs 2 & 3) and
trying to discern the inscription, it was observed that whilst the
overall condition of the Portland Stone upper and lower parts of
the tomb appeared to be sound, save for normal weathering and
the growth of moss on its damp, north side, there appeared - at
least at first sight - to be evidence of settlement of the head of the
tomb by approximately 100mm, concealing a significant part of its
plinth. Thankfully, however, at a later stage, this was found to be
primarily attributable to a substantial build-up of the ground at
the western end of the tomb.

In progressing the project, the author, as the architect for the
scheme, was mindful of current conservation practice, which
argues that works of repair should avoid undue, unjustified and
irreversible change to the surviving original fabric or features of a
listed building or any other structure of particular architectural or
historic interest or significance. Accordingly, with the support of
other members of the Council, he looked for an approach to the
reinstatement of the inscription that limited work of re-cutting to
that which was necessary to recover its legibility but avoided its
reading as if it were completely new lettering. In this, the
approach was consistent with the published advice of English
Heritage and The War Memorials Trust on works to headstones,
tombs, mausolea and other monuments in churchyards and to war
memorials.

The Society’s emerging proposals were discussed on site in
early February with Nairita Chakraborty, the Council’s
Conservation Officer, Fr Roy Pearson, the Vicar of the Parish of
All Hallows’, Tottenham, in which Butterfield’s tomb and the
cemetery fall, and Matthew Cooper of the London Diocesan
Advisory Committee, and in-principle support was elicited.
Further, informal consultation took place subsequently with staff
of English Heritage and the Church Building Council, and
representatives of The Victorian Society and The Mausolea &
Monuments Trust, resulting in similarly positive, in-principle
support. In addition, informal technical advice was sought from
Steve Nellany of the Commonwealth War Graves Commission,
whose works team was undertaking conservation work during the
year on the very fine war memorial elsewhere in the cemetery.
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Fig. 4: The tomb from the north-east, with the foot of the grave nearest the viewer. Top image, in_June
2013, before work was carried out; bottom image, in September 2014 after completion of the planned
work. An inscription to William Butterfield’s brother was found on the north side, hidden by the moss,
though it is much eroded and can hardly be seen in either photograph; it is planned to reinstate this.
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Fig. 5: The foot of the tomb, on its south side, showing part of the inscription to William Butterfield.
Top image, in June 2013, before work was carried out, with the inscription hardly legible; bottom image,
in September 2014 after the inscription was reinstated.
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After careful selection of potential firms of skilled craftsmen
with relevant experience in projects of this kind, the project
architect sought expressions of interest from four firms of
conservators and letter-cutters with a sound record of
undertaking similar work. This was followed up by invitations to
the firms to provide formal quotations and outlines of their
proposed methodology.

Further to receipt of the four submissions and careful scrutiny
of the quotations and the proposed approaches to undertaking the
work, the Society’s Council agreed to accept the submission by
Hirst Conservation working with Gary Churchman. (Hirst
Conservation are currently engaged in conservation work at The
Palace of Westminster and Gary Churchman was responsible for
the reinstatement of the beautiful lettering at low level on the
early nineteenth-century memorial to Margaretta Beaufoy in
the Grade II* listed St John’s Church, Mare Street, Hackney.)
Importantly, the Society’s Council accepted Hirst Conservation’s
proposals to undertake the conservative cleaning of the stonework
of the tomb using the Doff variable steam-pressure system before
any work to the inscription was undertaken, and to carry out the
work to the inscription in sifu, rather than after the temporary
lifting and propping of the upper section of the tomb — a process
which would very probably have required the Society’s Council
to go through the lengthy and unpredictable process of securing
Listed Building Consent.

After securing confirmation from the Council’s Conservation
Officer that the extent and nature of the proposed in situ
works were not considered to require Listed Building Consent,
and securing a formal works-permit from Dignity Caring
Funeral Services as managers of the cemetery on behalf of the
Council, instructions were given to Hirst Conservation to
proceed (Figs 4 & 5).

Not only did the first stage of the cleaning of the stonework
carried out in mid-August reveal with increased clarity the
remains of the full inscription on the south side of the tomb, but
to everyone’s surprise it also exposed the barely legible inscription
commemorating William Butterfield’s younger brother, John
(1821-92), now known from his death certificate to be a retired
banker, on the north side; and, in addition, part of the wider and
longer York Stone slab on which the Portland Stone tomb rests.
After discussion between the architect and Hirst Conservation,
instructions were given to complete the removal of the build-up
of ground which had concealed a significant part of the plinth at
the head of the tomb and the cleaning of the entire plinth and the
top surface of the York Stone slab. This work was completed in late
August. In due course, consideration will need to be given to how
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IN - HOPE - OF - THE - RESVRRECTION - TO - ETERNAL - LIFE - HERE - RESTS - THE - BODY - OF
WILLIAM - BVTTERFIELD - WHO - DEPARTED - THIS - LIFE - FEBRVARY - 2380 - A© - DN - 1900 - AGED - 85 - YEARS

IN - HOPE - OF - THE - RESVRRECTION - TO - ETERNAL - LIFE - HERE - RESTS - THE - BODY - OF
JOHN - BVTTERFIELD - WHO - DEPARTED - THIS - LIFE - JANVARY - (4" - Ao - D™ - 1892 - AGED - 69 - YEARS

The wording of the inscription to William Butterfield on the south of the tomb, now reinstated, and the recently discovered
inscription to his brother John on the north side, previously covered by moss, and much eroded. The Society plans to reinstate
John’s inscription.

best to reinstate and maintain an attractive grass setting around the
perimeter of the plinth. At present the land around the
monuments in this part of the cemetery is in a pretty rough
condition and the ground around Butterfield’s tomb is bare save
for a littering of fallen leaves.

Gary Churchman completed his work for the reinstatement
of the legibility of the inscription commemorating William
Butterfield along the south side of the tomb in two stages by
Wednesday 3 September — in good time for the commemoration
of the 200th anniversary of Butterfield’s birth the following
Sunday.

Resulting from the discovery of the hardly discernible
inscription commemorating John Butterfield on the north side of
the tomb, the Society’s Council has agreed to extend the scope of
the project to include the reinstatement of its legibility. This work
will be undertaken in the early spring of 2015. Due to the
generosity of members of the Society and other donors, the
necessary funds are available for this unexpected additional work.

DONORS

The Ecclesiological Society is very grateful to the many generous people
who have subscribed funds or helped in other ways to make the restoration
of Buttetfield’s grave possible. A number of donors prefer to remain
anonymous but we are delighted to record the names of the following who
helped us realise the project successfully.

All Saints, Margaret Street, Roger Bowdler

London Dr Simon Bradley
I. E E Anderson Ken Brand
Priscilla Baines Dr Geoff Brandwood
Dr G. M. and Mrs A. Barnes Dr and Mrs A. C. Branfoot
Paul Barnwell Professor Linda Burnet
Hugh Bedford Dr Antony Chapman
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Dr Martin Cherry

Tom and Silke Cochrane

Dr Nicola Coldstream

Richard Coutts

Professor James Stevens Curl

Trevor Cooper

Karen Deane

Barbara Dennis

Dignity plc

Christopher Dingwall

Brian E Don

Brian Eckersley

Stuart Evans

Michael Fowle

Conrad Fry

Jean Fryer

J. de la Fuente

Anthony Gilmour

The Rt Revd Bishop James
Grant

Greg Harper and Maureen
Henderson

Jennifer Harrison

Dr Marc Heine

Peter Hirschman

Linda Hone

Andrew Instone-Cowie

Stephen Johnston

Keble College, Oxford

Denis Keeling

Ruth Knight

Frank and Linda Jefts

Ian Johnson

David Mackilligan

Peter Maplestone

The Ven. David Meara

Hugh Meller

Colin Menzies

Edward Moore

Michael O’Dell

Will Osborne

John Penn

A. Pugh-Thomas

Tony Reavell

Merle R obinson

Jacqueline Sabri-Tabrizi

Robert Shaw

St Ninian’s Cathedral, Perth
(congregation)

Dr Nicholas Shrimpton

Dr Martin Spaight

Christopher Staftord

Sabina Sutherland

Peter C.W. Taylor

David Tierney

Canon Dr Nicholas
Thistlethwaite

Ian W. Thomas

Michael Thomas

Paul Velluet

Angela Vukoje

Jane Wainwright

Joy Wallis

Fr Philip Warner

Canon David Wyatt

We would also like to express our appreciation to the Mausolea &
Monuments Trust, the Society of Architectural Historians of Great
Britain, and the Victorian Society, all of whom kindly publicised our

appeal.



Book reviews

Peter Beacham and Nikolaus Pevsner, The Buildings of England:
Cornwall. Yale U.P, 2014, 771 pp., 127 col. pls, £35.00 hdbk, ISBN 978
0 300 12668 6

Sitting here with my well thumbed 1970 copy of Cornwall, by Pevsner
and Radcliffe, and the new revised edition by Peter Beacham, the
obvious change in size is astounding — 772 pages as against 284, and
bigger pages too. Can the revision to any other volume have seen quite
such a dramatic increase in terms of entries? Let me state from the outset
that this new volume is a must for anyone visiting Cornwall and Peter
Beacham is to be congratulated for overseeing such a mammoth
operation and producing a volume worthy of Cornwalls fascinating
geology and outstanding architectural legacy.

For a county with such a complex and wide-ranging geology the
new introduction to the Geology and Building Materials is most
welcome. For those visiting Cornwall’s churches for the first time the
mention and introduction of such alien names as Polyphant, White
Elvan, Blue Elvan, Killas, Luxulyanite Granite, Tarten Down Stone and
Serpentinite, is nothing short of confusing. They really do sound as
strange as many of the church dedications and indeed the place names.
This section, which Sarah Buckingham has written, has indeed vastly
improved and surpassed that originally written by Alec Clifton Taylor.
The eight specific introductory sections such as Prehistory, Mining, the
Industrial Revolution — there were originally only three — all offer a far
more rigorous and structured assessment of their subject areas.

The church entries are also more comprehensive. From a personal
perspective it is good to see that Cornish churches are finally beginning
to have their many hundreds of stained glass windows identified and
listed. For too long it was simply the case of noting mediaeval glass and
then mentioning the usual suspects from the nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries, e.g. Morris and Co, Kempe, Comper etc.

St Tudy is a good example where, in the previous edition, only a
short mention of tiny mediaeval fragments was made; now besides the
original entry we learn of dated work by Frederick Drake, Lavers &
Baraud and Ward & Hughes.

The appearance of colour photography has allowed the richness of
Cornwall’s ecclesiastical heritage to come to life, indeed 59 of the 127
photographs involve churches. For a start the differences in building
material can be readily identified. And it is also good to see that besides
the expected images of the nationally important mediaeval glass at St
Neot, there is a sequence of photographs of the ravishing mediaeval glass
at St Kew. The William Morris and Burne Jones window at Ladock and
the Veronica Whall window at Tintagel are also welcome additions.

Yes Cornwall really has changed dramatically in the intervening half
century with, as Beacham puts it so eloquently, Cornwall reinventing
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itself using its national and internationally important artistic
contribution of the twentieth and twenty-first centuries. It is remarkable
just how much cutting-edge architecture has been erected, especially in
the last twenty years: The Tate at St Ives, The Maritime Museum in
Falmouth and the Combined Universities Cornwall Campus at
Tremough on the outskirts of Penrhyn, all of which have joined the
county’s other outstanding modern developments like the Law Courts at
Truro and Nick Grimshaw’s iconic Eden Project. Yet Beacham rightly
fires a timely warning shot in the last paragraph of his superlative
Introduction, expressing concern at ‘the proliferation of wind farms
across so much of the Cornish landscape. So little of the huge surge of
new development sweeping across the county is of a design worthy of its
setting: Cornwall, so rich, complex and beautiful deserves better’.

Mike Hope

Roger Sainsbury, St Michael’s Highgate: a History. St Michael’s Church,
Highgate, 2014, 250 pp., 38 col. pls, £25.00 hdbk, ISBN 978 0 9569421
4 2. (For copies telephone 020 8883 4927)

Among the many books devoted to an individual parish and its
ecclesiastical buildings, this one is unusually substantial and attractive, and
the product of exceptionally diligent research. All this is even more
remarkable when one learns that the church was from the 1830s,
‘wretched Georgian’ as the Ecclesiologists would have had us believe.
But this is no ordinary account of an unloved Commissioners’ church:
the story of Highgate’s churches goes back to the Middle Ages; the
present one is an exceptionally fine example, designed by Lewis Vulliamy
in 1830-32, with several sympathetic additions; and it remains at the
heart of a vibrant Church of England community. However, Roger
Sainsbury has a bigger story to tell as his narrative is a microcosm of
wider developments in Anglican church building and church going.
Research for the book draws heavily of the church’s own archives
and its comprehensive collection of Parish Magazines, in print since 1863.
These, predictably, give an intimate and engaging picture of parish life,
but several of them provide accounts of earlier periods. The story begins
tentatively with an ancient hermitage, but moves to firmer ground with
the building of a chapel in the sixteenth century for Highgate’s school.
This soon became a convenient place of worship for the villagers, but its
irregular status led, subsequently, to a number of legal problems
concerning ownership and jurisdiction, especially when an application
was made to the Commissioners in 1822 for assistance to build a new
church. Resolution involved an Act of Parliament, nearly a decade’s
delay, and much acrimony. Sainsbury succeeds well in unpicking the
threads of this saga. However, the result was an especially fine church;
Vulliamy produced his fair share of cheap, grim examples, but here
showed what a slightly enhanced budget could achieve. The
Ecclesiologists would certainly have criticised its low pitched roofs, its
galleries and modest chancel, but it handsomely satisfied the liturgical



demands of the era and elegantly demonstrates that not all the period’s
architects had a ‘want of knowledge of true Gothic’ details. Not only is
the design an unusually competent handling of the medieval decorative
repertoire, but it was exceptional in having a second, upper, west gallery,
placed above the usual one, for the use of the schoolchildren. Such extra
galleries, often for the use of ‘charity children’ were not unknown in
enlargement projects financed by the ICBS in the post-Waterloo period,
but they are unusual in new churches funded by the Commissioners,
being deemed usually to produce ‘too much the appearance of a theatre’.
Predictably, the church received a new chancel, and lost its north and
south galleries in 1880-81, but G. E. Street’s design respected Vulliamy’s;
Temple Moore — who was earlier married in the church — added a
similarly tactful south chapel in 1906. The result is a felicitous sequence
of development.

Sainsbury devotes much space to the various incumbents and
outlines the key events of their tenure. He includes interesting details of
parish finance, church attendance and the concerns of the day, issues
surely rehearsed up and down the country at the same time, giving his
book a resonance for all those interested in the often complex subject of
parish life since the 1830s. He also corrects a number of errors in earlier
publications about the parish.

Christopher Webster

Gerard Hyland, The Architectural Works of A. W, N. Pugin. Spire Books,
2014, 320 pp, 45 col. pls, £35.00 hdbk, ISBN 978 1 904965 47 3

It is only in the past twenty years or so that A.W.N. Pugin (1812-52) has
been accorded the full recognition that he has long deserved as the most
significant architect and designer of the Gothic Revival, and a man
whose influence extended well beyond his tragically short life and across
several continents. So much has been written and published on his
life and achievements, but one major gap has remained, namely a
comprehensive easy-reference digest of the total corpus of Pugin’s work,
actual and projected. Gerard Hyland’s gazetteer more than adequately
fills this gap. As a theoretical physicist by profession, Dr Hyland has
approached this challenging task with an analytical mind and an eye to
logical organisation of the material. An established scholar and author
who has already published important studies of Pugin’s eldest son,
Edward (1834-75), he has a deep appreciation and understanding of the
theological and liturgical bases of Pugin’s life and work: factors which
some writers have sadly underestimated. ‘I have prayed from a child for
the restoration of the long lost glory of catholic England’, wrote Pugin
in 1840, and this was the spring-board for all that he did.

In a working life which spanned no more than sixteen years
(1836-52), Pugin undertook almost three hundred works ranging from
complete buildings to furnishings, decorative schemes and restorations;
from cathedrals to country mansions, almshouses, schools, and the vast
interiors of the New Palace of Westminster. He was also the author of
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eight major publications on Gothic art and architecture for which he not
only supplied the text, but also drew the illustrations and designed the
binding. Dr Hyland is of course concerned only with Pugin’s work as a
practical architect and designer, and this is arranged chronologically in a
series of eleven building types, e.g. cathedrals, conventual churches,
parish churches, collegiate churches and institutional chapels. Each entry
is complemented by a list of sources, while the biographical notes
explore the driving principles of Pugin’s work, revealing that he was not
always the ‘middle-pointed’ fanatic that some have made him out to be,
but that his concept of Gothic changed and changed again as he fell
under the influence of the scholar and liturgist Dr Daniel Rock
(1799-1871) and then parted company with him. Brief biographies are
given of the ‘collaborators’ as Dr Hyland calls them: those people who
were especially close to Pugin and who shared his vision of a revived
Catholic England expressed through Gothic architecture and art.
Though of larger format than the average Pevsner guide, this book
is still of a convenient size to carry around in the car for reference when
travelling. ‘Can there be any Pugin here?’ one might ask when passing
through the Black-Country town of Dudley. The Gazetteer informs us
that indeed there is, and that it is important Pugin too. Another surprise
is the price. At only /35 RRP this beautifully-illustrated work of
scholarship is another triumph for Spire Books in their production of
high-quality architectural publications, and a ‘must-have’ for those who
want to know just how important Pugin was, and just how deeply and
widely he influenced English architecture and design.
Michael Fisher

Stephen Savage, Clifford — in Context: the Story of St Luke’, Clifford.
Privately printed, 2014, 92 pp., 35 col. pls, £5.00 pbk. No ISBN. (For
copies, telephone 0113 2608972)

Stephen Savage, a retired teacher from Leeds, tells the story of St Luke’,
Clifford, setting it in the context of the unfolding Oxford Movement. In
his capable hands this account of the local story usefully illustrates the
workings of the Oxford Movement as it moved from its academic base
out into the parishes to become fully developed Anglo-Catholicism.
Clifford was one such parish which was run on High Church principles
from its foundation in 1842. The church of St Luke was built in the
ancient parish of Bramham under the patronage of Mr George Lane Fox
of nearby Bramham Park. The village of Clifford was populated largely
by Roman Catholics who had come to work at the local flax mill. The
new church was meant to strengthen the Protestant presence in the area,
but in fact it developed in a Catholic direction through the influence of
a succession of priests from the High Church tradition. Savage gives a
brief account of each incumbent down to the present day. Two of these
are worthy of special mention. The first priest of St Luke’s was the Revd
W. H. Lewthwaite, who was one of the founding members of the
Cambridge Camden Society. He observed the full ritual requirements of



the Book of Common Prayer, causing the church bell to be rung each day
as he recited the daily offices of Morning and Evening Prayer. He
established a weekly communion, and built at his own expense a small
convent which he called The Hostel of St Stephen and St John. He was
a dedicated parish priest loyal to the Church of England, but Savage
suggests that the Gorham Judgement (in the text Gorham is spelled
wrongly as Goreham pp. 10, 31, 36) made him question the validity of
Anglican orders. The Catholic emphasis of Mr. Lewthwaite’s ministry
brought him into contact with the clergy of St Saviour’, Leeds, another
church with controversial High interests. In 1851 he was received, along
with several of them, into the Roman Catholic Church, to be ordained
as a Roman Catholic priest in 1854. Following Lewthwaite’s departure
there was a succession of incumbents during what Savage describes as ‘a
quiet time’. The village of Clifford went into a gradual decline with the
closure of the flax mill, and church attendance was small, but the
Catholic tradition of the parish was maintained. The ministry of the
Revd Robert Miles Stapylton from 1916 to 1933 brought a renewed
devotion and zeal to the parish and church attendance began to pick up.
A new stone altar was installed adorned with six candles and a crucifix.
A set of Stations of the Cross was introduced, the Blessed Sacrament was
reserved, and High Mass was introduced to celebrate Ascension Day,
Corpus Christi, All Saints Day, and the Feast of the Assumption. Some of
these innovations met with the disapproval of Archbishop C. G. Lang, but
Father Stapylton refused to compromise. Later on in the life of the parish
and of the Anglo-Catholic tradition as a whole, practices which had to
be fought for and which were regarded with suspicion gradually became
accepted as a legitimate expression of Anglican theology. In Savage’s
telling of the story of St Luke’s, Clifford, we are made aware of the fact
that so much depended on the succession of dedicated parish priests
intent on ministering to their people within the Catholic framework of
the Church of England.

Roy Yates

T.P. Connor, Thomas Hardy’s Master: John Hicks, Architect. Dorset
Natural History and Archaeological Society, 2014, 57 pp., 14 colour, 3
b/w plates, £8.50, ISBN 978 0 900341 57 1. (By post £10 from the
Dorset County Museum, 01305 756827, quoting ref. DCM#14.)

This short book is a welcome addition to the ever-growing studies of
Victorian provincial practices, so many of which were involved in
church building and restoration. Whether the Dorchester architect John
Hicks (1815—69) would have made it into print is perhaps debatable
were it not for the famous fact that the sixteen-year-old novelist-to-be
Thomas Hardy served an apprenticeship under him from 1856. He
remained as an assistant until his move to London in 1862 to join
A.W. Blomfield (he returned to Hicks in 1867).

Hicks started practice in Bristol in the late 1830s and, after
bankruptcy proceedings, moved to Dorset by 1851. By 1854 he was
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living in South Street, Dorchester, where he remained until his death.
From here he conducted a successtul practice which was primarily
ecclesiastical in nature. His success can be measured by the fact that the
Diocesan Architect, the very prolific T. H. Wyatt, worked on 28 churches
in Dorset; Hicks worked on at least 33. In addition he designed seven
schools and nine parsonages and undertook various secular commissions.
Success was such that he even established a sub-office in Bridport in the
late 1850s.

The great interest of this book is its fascinating insights into the
patronage of mid-Victorian church-building. In Hicks’s case this meant
support from High Church Anglicans, then very much in the ascendant.
So it was that Hicks took over work, after their early deaths, from Pugin
and R.. C. Carpenter for High Church incumbents. This included Hicks’s
elder brother James who had been curate at Piddletrenthide since 1837
and became vicar from 1845. The restoration of his church by the
younger Hicks was enthusiastically reported in the Dorser County
Chronicle and this organ was to be a constant supporter. A further
enthusiast was the Tractarian Bishop of Salisbury (from 1854), Walter
Kerr Hamilton: at the consecration of Wool church in 1866 he declared:
‘there were no people he desired to see more employed [on church
restoration| than Messrs. Hicks and [his regular builder] Wellspring’.

Hicks was also favoured by Thomas Sanctuary, from 1848, the
Tractarian vicar of Powerstock where Hicks took over from Carpenter.
His influence as Archdeacon of Dorset from 1862 must have been
considerable. He actively promoted Hicks in preference to Wyatt and
there was, not surprisingly, much rivalry between the two men. An
interesting point (not emphasised by the author unfortunately) is Wyatt’s
sympathetic attitude towards Perpendicular work, a rare thing in the
1850s and 1860s when the style was deeply unfashionable. Hence we
find Wyatt in 1859 criticising Hicks at Powerstock for throwing
‘overboard completely all the Perpendicular features of the Church &
Chancel’. He made similar comments regarding the restoration of Long
Bredy in 1860.

Geoft Brandwood

Keith Penny, The Church of Blue Columns: Anglo-Catholicism in a new
district, St Olave, Mitcham, 1928—1939. St Olave, Mitcham PCC, 2013,
115 pp., 17 b&w pls, £7.50 pbk, ISBN 978 0 9926523 0 2

Keith Penny sets out to tell the story of the foundation and early years
of St Olave’s Church, Mitcham. It was one of the twenty-five churches
built in the inter-war years in the Diocese of Southwark at the initiation
of Bishop Cyril Garbett. The churchmanship of the new parish owed
much to the influence of its first vicar, Fr Reginald Kingdon Haslam.
This is the story of a new parish in an expanding urban area coupled
with a study of the work of a dedicated Anglo-Catholic priest struggling
to establish a pattern of worship and church life in an area that had no
previous tradition to follow.



Penny sets the scene by giving an account of the urban expansion in
Streatham Vale and Long Thornton Park by which a semi-rural industrial
village was developed into a suburb of new housing estates, and the
response of the diocese to designate a new District and build a dual
purpose church-hall. He tells us that when Father Haslam was appointed
as Missionary Priest of what was to become the Parish of St Olave, he
began his ministry with a systematic visitation of families as they moved
into their new houses. This pioneer work built up the congregation and
led to the building of the new church of St Olave.

The architect A. C. Martin was appointed to design the new church,
which he proposed should be in the Byzantine style. Its most prominent
feature was a large dome at the crossing, supported internally by eight
blue columns. The consecration took place in 1931, but from the start
what were then new building materials and building techniques led to
problems. The flat roof began to leak and dampness affected the internal
walls. None of this took away from the sense of occasion at the
consecration or from Haslam’s pioneer ministry. The design was, ‘like no
other in Christendom’.

Penny’s assessment of the ten-year ministry of Fr Haslam at
St Olave’s begins with the failure of the Revised Book of Common Prayer
to secure a passage through Parliament. Despite this disappointment,
Haslam from his first days in the parish established Holy Communion or
Mass as the principal Sunday service rather than Morning Prayer. By
degrees more aspects of Anglo-Catholic devotion were introduced to the
parish in order to surround the Mass with a rich ceremonial and fine
music. Some of these caused controversy, such as the use of incense, the
reservation of the blessed sacrament, and the introduction of a statue of
the Virgin Mary. But by the end of Haslam’s ministry they were accepted
as part of the norm in the High Church tradition. Perhaps the most
distinguishing feature of these years was the insistence that High Mass
was not meant to be a service where the congregation received
communion, but an occasion to observe and adore.

To complete the picture of the first ten years of St Olave’s we are
given an account of worship on a typical Sunday, details of income and
fund-raising, the contribution of the choir, the importance of social life
and other church organisations. The parish continues to serve the
community today in very different circumstances from those early years.
But the influence of its first parish priest and the traditions he tried to
establish are still felt. The building too, in spite of its problems, remains
on historical and architectural grounds as ‘undoubtedly one of the most
rewarding of the Southwark Twenty-five’.

Roy Yates
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Robert Halliday, Suffolk Graves: A History of Suffolk Gravestones. Arima
Publishing, 2013, 114 pp., many b&w pls, £9.95 pbk, ISBN 978 1 84549
595 4; same author, Suffolk Graves: Graves of the Famous and Notable.
Arima Publishing, 2013, 100 pp., many b&w pls, £9.95, pbk, ISBN 978
1 84549 602

These two books from Robert Halliday can be seen as accomplished
modest primers; in essence they are valuable handbooks, serving a very
useful purpose. Each volume provides a fascinating survey of graves in
Suffolk and the author has carefully put together a broad overview of
gravestones across the county and followed this up with a spotlight on
the more distinctive tributes to the famous and notable.

Surprises abound, for example, Antony Wingfields Baroque statue
by Frances Bird at Stonham Aspal provoked even Pevsner to expect it to
be located in a more prestigious setting, such as Westminster Abbey! In
complete contrast Sir Basil Spence’s modest flat drawing board slab is the
absolute epitome of architectural simplicity. For the designer of
Coventry Cathedral, the British Embassy in Rome and the University of
Sussex it is, perhaps, a surprise that he retired to Yaxley Hall and is buried
so modestly at Thornham Parva. Set against this William Bardwell’s
design for his own monumental edifice at Southwold could not be a
bolder statement for a Victorian architectural historian. It is no surprise
that Benjamin Britten and Peter Pears’ graves in Aldeburgh churchyard
are amongst the most visited in Suffolk. Equally, given their lifelong
companionship, as expected they are buried side by side and marked by
rather rudimentary tablets.

No one who takes delight in surveying churchyards and cemeteries
can fail to find something of interest here. The symbolism of gravestone
art and design 1s well covered. Both volumes are clearly structured and
comprehensively, if basically, illustrated. The message that graveyards
enshrine and celebrate our history could not be better summarized. If
there is a drawback to these two books it is that they give too little
impression of the setting or context. Too often neglect and a soul-
destroying lack of caring typify the average churchyard or cemetery.
Valuing a sense of place and the rare talents of a landscape gardener
receive limited attention. Happily the recent award of the Royal
Horticultural Harlow Carr Medal to Roger Brook, principally for his
innovative ‘no dig’ treatment of Bolton Percy Cemetery Garden in
Yorkshire might reverse this trend (www.nodiggardener.co.uk). More
than ever we are being encouraged to think of ‘Place’— with a capital ‘P’.
Here we are not just thinking of conserving the past, but also building
on ‘future heritage’ and, above all, valuing distinctive places of quiet
contemplation.

With luck Halliday’s unique books might be a way of continuing to
re-focus attention on landmarks deserving wider recognition and of re-
discovering many half-forgotten gems deserving of even more care and
attention. In short, these books celebrate how relics of the past can teach
us much about our ancestry, often in settings of quiet tranquillity and
stunning beauty.

John L Taylor, Higher Education International



Short Notes

Nick Plumley, Arundel Church with the Fitzalan Chapel: a Brief History.
Pitkin Publishing, 2014, 40 pp., 75 col. pls, £6.50 (inc. p&p) pbk, ISBN
978 1 84165567 3. (For copies, telephone 01903 882262)

This is a very attractively produced guide book to two important
ecclesiastical structures. The short, but thorough account successfully
places the various phases of construction, restoration and development in
the context of wider political and religious events, from the Norman
Conquest to the present day.

Michael Yelton, More Empty Tabernacles: Another Tivelve Lost Churches of
London. Anglo-Catholic History Society, 2014, 158 pp., many col. and
b&w pls, £18.00 (inc. postage), pbk, ISBN 978 0 9560565 5 9. (For
coplies, see the society’s website)

This is yet another of the depressing series of books from Michael
Yelton’s pen on lost Anglo-Catholic churches, a subject he has made very
much his own. Here we learn of another twelve that fell victim to the
decline in these patterns of worship. The losses seem especially sad when
we see the photographs not only of the often lavishly decorated
interiors, but also of parish priests and lay fund-raisers who laboured so
hard to establish the parishes; could they ever have imagined the
buildings would have such short lives? We should be grateful that these
tragic losses are at least recorded in Yelton’s valuable publications.
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The Ecclesiological Society

The Ecclesiological Society is for all those who love churches, and are interested in their
fabric, furnishings and use. The Society was founded in 1879, as a successor to the Cambridge
Camden Society of 1839. It has a lively programme, including various lectures, an annual
conference, and visits to churches at a range of locations in the UK. Members receive the
Society’s periodical, Ecclesiology Today, twice a year.

Membership is open to all. For further details, see the Society’s website at
www.ecclsoc.org, or write to the Hon. Membership Secretary at the address given overleaf.

Contributions to Ecclesiology Today

The Editor is always pleased to receive articles for consideration for publication in Ecclesiology
Today, or suggestions for proposed contributions, whether fully worked out or at an early
stage in development. The Society wishes to encourage less-experienced authors, and the
Editor is happy to provide informal support and guidance to those in this position.

In furtherance of the Society’s aims, articles should promote ‘the study of the arts,
architecture and liturgy of the Christian Church’. They may be historical in nature, or reflect
contemporary matters. They need not be restricted in time, place or denomination, and
although in practice a significant number deal with Church of England churches, in recent
years a wider range of material has been covered, a trend which it is wished to encourage.
Articles dealing with individual buildings are welcome, although the Editor will expect the
discussion to highlight matters of wider significance. The Society’s interests cover a very wide
field, and it is therefore important that articles should be written in a way which can be
understood by anyone with a general interest in churches.

Most articles are objective and factual, but there is the opportunity for well-argued
personal views on matters of general interest to be put forward in the occasional ‘Viewpoint’
series.

Prospective authors are invited to communicate with the Editor at the earliest possible
stage. There is no formal process of refereeing, but articles will usually be sent to one or more
readers for an independent opinion before acceptance for publication, and eventual
publication may be dependent upon the author making such modifications as the Editor, in
consultation with the readers, may recommend.

Proposed contributions should preferably be submitted by email. They should be prepared
in accordance with the style guide, available on the Society’s website or by application to the
Editor. Authors are reminded that they are responsible for any fees and permissions required
for the reproduction of illustrations.

Books for review should be sent to the Reviews Editor. Material for Church Crawler
should be sent to the News Editor.
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The Ecclesiological Society
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